1953

In the Matter of the Estate of Emma G. Buttars : Contestants and Appellants Brief

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

THIS IS AN APPEAL from a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict entered by the District Court of Cache County, Utah, under date of November 15, 1952, setting for naught the Verdict of the Jury finding as contended for by contestants, appellants herein, that Emma G. Buttars, the deceased, at the time of subscribing Exhibit "A" (the will question) was not of sound and disposing mind and memory, and entering an order admitting said will to probate as the last will and testament of said deceased. The parties will be referred to as Contestants and Proponents as they were known in the court below. Contestants insist that the jury based its verdict upon substantial competent evidence and that the lower court improperly interferred therewith so

under the law committed reversible error. That the so-called will should be denied probate.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Emma G. Buttars all her married life, and nearly all her life, was a resident of Clarkston, a small farming community located on the Western slopes of Cache County, Utah. There, she and her husband reared a large family, 10 children, and accumulated extensive farming interests. They were successful in their farming operations. Her husband, Daniel Buttars, died in Clarkston January 10, 1916, and at the time of his death his children were of the following ages: Daniel D. 33, Margaret 29, Melvin H. 27, Orson M. 24, Maybell 22, Gover 20, Ira 17, Hattie 15, Archulius 12, and Wallace 9. Emma G. Buttars, widow, Daniel D., and Melvin H., sons were appointed administrators of the estate, and Decree of Final Distribution and Partition was entered therein March 10, 1917. (Con. Ex. 27)

Thereafter, Emma G. Buttars and her sons, Ira and Gover, operated the farm for some years. Ira later married, sold his 60 acres to his brother, Gover, and then moved to Burley, Idaho. Gover then operated the farm until 1930 when he also moved to Burley, and he then sold his 120 acre tract to his mother, thus adding this acreage to her holdings. From 1930 to the date of his mother's death, Wallace operated the farm for her on a lease basis. He had married and lived close by. During these years no particular complaint was regist-

ered against him by any of his brothers and sisters, they believing everything was satisfactory, until the incident known in this record as the "Service Station Meeting", held at Cornish, Utah, the fall of 1950, when Archulius complained to Margaret and Maybell about certain irregularities on the part of Wallace in dealing with his mother and which they wanted to discuss with their brother, Melvin. Archulius had become at "outs" with Wallace. (Tr. 206) Until this time everybody seems to have had confidence in Wallace (Tr. 184) At least there were no open complaints. More of this later.

Emma G. Buttars was 51 years of age when widowed in 1916. She had never had any serious illnesses until 1940, when she was 75 years of age. All the testimony is to the effect that at all times while she enjoyed good health she was self-reliant, frugal, determined, had a will of her own (Tr. 223), was inclined to be close or even stingy, and believed everybody should work and earn what they got (Tr. 201, 215, 226, 292), and, in fact, she kept her own holdings intact until the conveyances and transfers hereinafter mentioned and which were made by her commencing six days after she made her "will" and in which she stated that she desired to treat all of her children equally. She made this so-called will March 22, 1945. Always previous she stated she wanted to treat everybody equal. (Tr. 219).

Advancing years made their impact on her health. In 1940 she had her first really serious illness. (Tr. 145).

She was then hospitalized in the Cache Valley Hospital, Logan, Utah. About everything was wrong with her. She suffered from high blood pressure, hardening of the arteries, heart ailment, pneumonia, kidney trouble, and thereafter suffered terrific headaches. (Tr. 145, 201, 226). Thereafter she was never the same according to the testimony of her grandchildren who had seen her more or less infrequently (Tr. 29, 31) and also according to her own children who waited upon her and saw her almost daily or at short intervals (Tr. 168, 201). After this illness, from which she never fully recovered according to all of contestant's witnesses, she continued to deteriorate physically and mentally. (Tr. 146, 185, 203, 185, 186, 201, 203), and in 1944 she was again seriously ill and hospitalized (Tr. 203).

After her first illness in 1940, a serious and obvious change came over Emma G. Buttars—her mind continued to deteriorate. (Tr. 146, 185, 203). She couldn't remember, particularly recent events, even from morning until later in the day. (Tr. 31, 43, 150, 146, 147, 201-3). Nor remember her eldest grandsons, whom she knew best. (Tr. 31, 33, 34, 42, 53), nor their wives, didn't realize that her eldest son, Dan, was dead, his death occurring February 21, 1945, (Tr. 30-37, 42) one month before the "will" was made; worried over finances (Tr. 202, 204, 190); her mind was always confused, as to whether she had enough to live on, when in fact she was well fixed (Tr. 167, 190); she disliked

people for no apparent reason, would repeat, asking the same thing over and over again (Tr. 168, 203); was incoherent and couldn't stick to a subject (Tr. 228, 167) hid silverware in bed (Tr. 202, 227), accused some of her children of borrowing money from her when they did not (Tr. 227, 229) hid money, couldn't distinguish between her own property and others and claimed her son's turkeys as her own (Tr. 168), stayed in all the time (Tr. 228). Even the family didn't want her condition generally known. She didn't know what she had or possessed in the way of property (Tr. 204, 205, 208) or what she had done or signed away, and couldn't handle any amount of money (Tr. 204, 211, 222, 223, 228), purchased dress to go to the funeral of her son, Ira, who died in 1949, and then forgot he had died (Tr. 109, 212), did not know pursuant to arrangement that her son, Wallace, was handling her finances, writing her checks, etc. (Tr. 213, 344-50), did not know pursuant to arrangement that her own daughters were being paid by her son, Wallace, for taking turns in caring for her (Tr. 213), sold 10.25 acres to her daughter, Archulus for \$500.00, one-fourth of its real value.

On July 1, 1918, Dan borrowed \$1500 from his mother on his note payable on or before five years after date, and at the same time gave her a mortgage as security therefor, which was never recorded. (Con. Ex. 2 and 3) Dan's cancelled check dated January 17,

1923, payable to the deceased and upon which she had written "Pd. in full" was produced. (Con. Ex. 1). No one ever heard her say Dan owed her money (Tr. 211). She filed no claim against Dan's estate. She was always affectionate toward Dan, her eldest son, yet one month before drawing her "will" she showed no emotion at his passing. (Tr. 211). In her will she said she wanted to treat all of her children alike, then omitted her son, Dan's children because she had forgotten he had repaid the loan, said he owes her more than his share of the estate would amount to, (Prop. Ex. A) and then six days after making her "will", on March 28, 1945, conveyed 60 acre tract of land to her son, Wallace (Con. Ex. 24), on May 6, 1948, conveyed another tract to him consisting of 60 acres (Con. Ex. 23), on January 29, 1947, added Wallace's name on a \$5000.0 savings account in the First National Bank of Logan (Cont. Ex. 10) with the agreement that whoever should die first should pay the other's funeral expenses, and also added his name to three U. S. Savings bonds Series E., totaling \$1125.00; and on January 29, 1947, conveyed approximately 48 acres to Archulius (Con. Ex. 22), which Archulius told her brothers and sisters was given to her because certain stock distributed to her out of her father's estate turned out eventually to be poor stock and that had she known which tract Wallace had previously been given she would have taken the other a more valuable tract instead. (Tr. 158, 159); and on March 3, 1948, sold to Archulius a tract of land for

\$500.00 (Con. Ex. 21) which was one-fourth its real value (Tr. 165) and yet, when the deceased's savings box was opened, there was found a statement apparently signed by the deceased on April 9, 1945, (the will was dated March 22, 1945) in which it was stated that because "the Clarkston Trenton Mill stock that came to her from Daniel Buttars' estate" was a loss, that she delivered \$1000.00 War Savings Bond, Series E., to Archulius, and also 22 shares of First Security Bank Stock, (which has since been split 4 for 1) and that for the same reason she, the deceased, delivered to Hattie \$1000.0 in War Savings Bonds and 22 shares of First Security Bank Stock (since split 4 for 1) (Con. Ex. 20). See Con. Ex. 7 for a complete list and summary of savings Box when opened. Thus with 18 days after making her "will" she disposed of 60 acres to Wallace \$2000.00 in Bonds, and 22 shares (now 88) First Security Bank stock.

The will bears date March 22, 1945. Before the will was drawn, in 1944, Wallace and Archulius called the family together and a meeting was held at Margaret's place. It was there reported by Archulius and Wallace that their mother was not physically or mentally in a condition to be left alone. The appointment of a guardian was suggested. Margaret, Gover, Melvin, Archulius, and Wallace were present. She was not on the date the will was made physically or mentally competent to make it. (Tr. 148-151) There was a confident-

ial relation existing between Wallace and his mother. He wrote all her checks (Tr. 346) Ran her business but didn't want a guardian appointed. Knew always what he took her to Logan for (Tr. 350-361) except making of will (Tr. 354). Before the will was made he inquired of both Melvin and Orson if Dan had adopted a grandson—Sherrill Brown (Tr. 151-3)

Reference to other facts will be made in argument in order not to unduly lengthen this brief.

ARGUMENT. POINT 1

It is well settled in this estate that a will contest is an action at law. In *re Alexander's Estate*, 139 P2d, 432 (Utah). Being an action at law the court cannot weigh and pass on conflicting evidence, or pass on the credibility of witnesses. It is restricted to a review and determination of errors at law and the competency and sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict or findings if tried before a court. In *re, Dong Ling Hing's Estate*, 2 Pac. 2d, 902, (Utah). Where there is some substantial support in the evidence of the court's findings, or the jury's verdict, that is, if the court's findings or Jury's verdict is such where reasonable men could arrive at different conclusions, the court is prohibited from interfering therewith. *Swan's Estate* 170 Pac. 452, (Utah). And it is so well settled in this state as to hardly need citation of authority that on appeals from a judgment of nonsuit-and the same rule applies under Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 50, where

a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict is entered, as was done in this case, that the Supreme Court will take all evidence against the defendants as true and will give the plaintiff the benefit of every favorable inference and intendment which fairly arises from such evidence. *Galarowidz vs. Ward et al*, 230 P2d 576 (Utah). *Swan's Estate*, *supra*.

The fundamental question involved, therefore, on this appeal is: Was the jury's verdict that the deceased lacked testamentary capacity at the time of the execution of the will supported by substantial competent evidence? If so, then the Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict entered by the lower court must be vacated and the previous order of the court upon receiving the jury's verdict denying admission of the will to probate, reinstated. And in order to assist this court to understand the basis for the jury's verdict the following is respectfully submitted.

At the time of the death of her husband in 1916, Emma G. Buttars was 51 years old. Certain of her children, Dan, Margaret, Melvin, Maybell, Gover and Orson were all married, while Ira, Hattie, Archulius, and Wallace were still at home. Emma G. Buttars, Dan and Melvin were appointed administrators of the estate of Daniel Buttars, deceased, and on March 10, 1917, Decree of Final Distribution and Partition was entered by the District Court of Cache County in which the Court adopted the plan proposed by the three admin-

istrators. After the death of their father, Dan advised, but Mrs. Buttars, Gover, and Ira took over the active management and operation of the farm. Ira later married, sold his 60 acres to Gover, and moved to Burley, Idaho. Gover operated the farm until 1930 when he then moved to Burley, Idaho, and sold his 120 acres to his mother, thus increasing her holdings by this acreage. From 1930 to the date of the death of his mother, Wallace has operated the farm pursuant to the terms of a lease.

Gover and Ira remained in Burley, where Ira died in 1949. Melvin lived at Cornish and Dan at Lewiston, Utah. Both of them always made frequent trips to Clarkston to visit with their mother. Melvin's wife was a Clarkston girl, so he made frequent trips to see his mother-in-law and mother also. Hattie married, moved Burley and later to Garland. Wallace married and built a home just a few rods from where his mother lived. Archulius lived across the street. Maybell and Margaret both lived in Clarkston, close to their mother's home. Family ties were strong and they all visited back and forth frequently. The record also shows that the grandchildren, the children of Dan, the contestants and appellants herein, also upon occasion more or less frequently, visited with their grandmother.

All of the evidence is also to the effect that Emma G. Buttars was a lady of resolute will, inclined to be very frugal and saving in her disposition, and habits,

and that she enjoyed good health until the year 1940 and that from the time of the death of her husband in 1916 until the many conveyances and transfers made by her beginning with the year 1945, she not only made none but that she increased her holdings by purchasing an additional 120 acre tract of land from her son Gover, besides the money in the banks, the bonds herein mentioned and the First Security Bank Stock (See Decree). All of contestant witnesses who testified on the subject stated positively that they never ever heard their mother express any dissatisfaction with the terms of the said Final Decree of Distribution and Partition. No where in the record does it appear that she ever stated to anyone that her son Dan owed her any money, until the very day she made her will when Wallace took her to Logan to enter her safety deposit box at the First Security Bank. The record is also clear that up until the year 1940 the deceased always enjoyed good health and that thereafter she was never the same strong and healthy individual or did she transact any business; that while deceased enjoyed good health the Buttars family was a united one. The children visited with their mother and Wallace continued to operate her farm on a share basis. No one interfered. The record is silent as to any quarrel ever between the mother and any of her children.

In 1940 Emma G. Buttars was 75 years old. She became seriously ill and thereafter was never the same.

About everything was wrong with her. She suffered from hardening of the arteries, high blood pressure, heart ailment, kidney trouble, and terrific headaches. Deterioation had set in. Every indication of senility was and remained apparent. She couldn't remember recent events, from morning until later in the day. She didn't recognize some of her eldest grandsons, nor their wives. One month before she made her will, she didn't realize her son, Dan, had died nor could she remember or carry on coherent conversations. She worried over finances when she in fact had plenty. Her mind was confused over finances and property particularly and she constantly worried about having enough to live on. She was forgetful, particularly as to recent events, disliked people for no reason at all, would repeat, ask the same thing over and over again, hide silverware in bed, accuse some of her children of borrowing from her when they had not, hide money, couldn't distinguish between her own property and that of her sons. She didn't know what she had or possessed in the way of property, or what she had done or signed way. There was no doubt intellectual deterioration had taken place. Her condition became so bad that the family didn't want her condition generally known. Long before 1945 deceased failed to attend to any of her own business. All she did was to sign check and follow Wallace or be lead around by him. (Tr. 360 etc.)

In late summer or early fall of 1944 Wallace and Archulus called the family together and it was there reported that their mother was not physically or mentally in a condition to be left alone. The appointment of a guardian was suggested. Before her will was made she did not know that pursuant to an arrangement Wallace was caring for her finances, nor that thereafter in 1951 and 1952, her daughters were taking turns in caring for her and were being paid therefor. After returning from the hospital following her first illness her daughters cared for her without pay. She also had a second serious illness in 1944. Such is the positive testimony of contestants and their witnesses.

Those of the contestants who testified, grandchildren of the deceased, viz, Villa Bronson, Ted Buttars, Omar Buttars, Wendell Buttars, and Ormas Buttars, are all grown persons, 40 years of age or thereabouts, all of whom were intimately acquainted with the deceased during her lifetime, knew of her physical and mental condition earlier in her life, and each of them visited with their grandmother at different intervals after her illness in 1940, and so were competent witnesses. They testified that in their opinion the deceased at the time of the execution of her last will was not of sound and disposing mind. And other witnesses, Maybell and Margaret, daughters, who lived close-by, took their turns in caring for their mother and so saw her nearly daily or very frequently, both before, at the

time of, and after making the will, and Melvin, a son, who visited his mother very frequently during the same period of time, all testified to the same effect as to her testamentary capacity. (Tr. 211, 216, 219, 229, 231, 32, 34, 60-67).

Such is only some of the direct and positive testimony produced by appellants, and as to such evidence In re Swan's Estate, supra, at page 458, right hand column, our court has this to say: "that nonexpert witnesses are competent in cases of this kind, and many of them go so far as to hold that testimony of witnesses who were intimately acquainted with the deceased in his lifetime, and familiar with his mental condition at the time when the instrument was executed, is entitled to greater weight than the testimony of medical experts who had no such knowledge of conditions". See also In re, McCoy's Estate, 63 P2d 622 and In re, Hansen's Est, 52 P2d 1103. In fact in the Swan case the lower court believed and followed the testimony of the lay witnesses as against the two medical experts and this court upheld the lower court in its decision. That Margaret, Maybell and Melvin each at all times had first hand knowledge of their mother's physical and mental condition cannot be controverted. In the case at Bar, Dr. Randall, the attending physician, was of no assistance to the jury because he seldom saw her, at most about twice a year, didn't recall whether he saw her in 1945, or at least if so, what time of the year, didn't state

what her condition was, except that he did say that last time he saw her in 1952 she was not alert. (Tr. 258-263) His testimony is practically worthless so far as aiding the jury is concerned. In McCoy's Estate, 63 P2d 620 (Utah) the doctor did not see deceased from Dec. 1 to Dec. 26, the day after the will was made and his opinion was said not to be controlling.

This is a much stronger case on the facts than is the Swan case when it comes to upholding the verdict of the jury. And our court is committed to that doctrine in law cases. Says the court in the Swan Case, Supra, page 457, left hand column:

“As before stated, all we have the power to do in a law case appealed to this court on a question of insufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict or a finding is to determine whether or not there is substantial evidence to sustain it.” And again: “The competency of this evidence is not questioned. The materiality of the testimony is self-evident. The findings of the court are sustained by that testimony, and the testimony is substantial. What power has this court in such a case to disturb the findings, even if every member of the court, looking at the case from the standpoint of triers of fact, believed the findings should have been against the validity of the will?” And again, on the right hand column of page 457 the court says: “But, as we have already intimated, enough has been said in this opinion to conclusively demonstrate the utter powerlessness of the court to do other than affirm the judgment. *In arriving at this conclusion we have not, as will appear, brought in re-*

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