1953

In the Matter of the Estate of Emma G. Buttars : Proponent and Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

"The only reasonable conclusion from the record before us is that the testator was possessed of a parental belief, not abnormal or unfounded under the facts, relating to his son's ability to handle money, and that he took steps to protect him with an income adequate to his needs in addition to his own earnings for the balance of his life. Even though there may have been discord in the family during the decedent's lifetime or even injustice in the division of income between the children, that alone would not be sufficient to set aside a will executed by one in full possession of his mental faculties and otherwise competent to make a will."

In the Montana case of *In re Benson's Estate*, 98 P.2d. 868, the undisputed evidence discloses that Benson was taken to hospital on Wednesday, February 2, 1938, suffering from diabetes mellitus and left lobar pneumonia, from which illness he died at 8:45 a. m., Sunday, February 6, 1938. At time of his death he was 71 years of age. At his request a will was prepared on Saturday evening, February 5th about 12 hours prior to his death. When his will was

offered for probate, the executor named therein submitted proof in support of the allegations of his petition. Contest having theretofore been filed, the case was tried before the court and a jury. The trial and result thereof is stated in the opinion:

“A jury having been impaneled, the contestants submitted evidence in support of their contest, and at the conclusion of all evidence the court submitted a single interrogatory to the jury, as follows: Was John A. Benson competent to make a last will and testament at the time of the alleged signing of the instrument offered for probate as a will dated February 5, 1938? The jury answered the interrogatory in the negative, and thereupon the judgment aforesaid was entered.”

In reversing the judgment of trial court, the Supreme Court called attention to a fundamental rule, viz:—

“We must bear in mind that, in the solution of the question here presented, one who contests a will has the burden of proof once the allegations of the petition for probate have been sufficiently proven. In *re* Murphy’s Estate, 43 Mont. 353, 116 P. 1004, Ann. Cas. 1912C, 389. *Also that a testator may dispose of his property as he sees fit, and that courts cannot make wills for persons.* In *re* Silver’s Estate, 98 Mont. 141, 38 P. 2d. 277.” (Italics supplied.)

And the following observation made by the Montana Court is applicable to the situation present when Mrs. Buttars executed her will:

“It appears to us that the physical facts surrounding the execution of the will and the acts of the testator speak louder than the witnesses in supporting the proponent’s contention that the testator was competent.

Viewed in the light of the foregoing instructions, and from the evidence offered, it is clear that there is no question of incompetency by reason of insanity, or senility, or disease prior to the time testator was taken to the hospital, and that at the time of the execution of the will he had in mind the names of the objects of his bounty, and also the character of his property, and the manner in which he desired to dispose of it."

In the case *Klose et. al. vs. Collins et. al.*, 20 P.2d. 494, the Supreme Court of Kansas affirmed judgment in favor of defendants. On appeal, contestants assigned two principal errors, viz — "The findings and judgment of the court is contrary to the law and evidence," and "The court erred in sustaining defendants demurrer to the evidence."

The grounds upon which plaintiffs seek to set aside the will are mental incompetency of testatrix, undue influence, and want of independent advice:"

The testatrix, Hattie Weary, executed a will on August 4, 1931, at the age of 78. She died on December 1, 1931. For several years prior to her death she had been a widow, and she had no near relatives. The contestant's were children of half brothers and half sisters, who resided in New York and Pennsylvania. The defendants are Arthur J. Collins and Glen R. Sewell. They were president and cashier, respectively, of the National Bank of Sebetha, where she resided, and who had been friendly and helpful to her in the management of her affairs. They were appointed joint executors by her will. The contestants offered evidence to show that she had relied entirely upon the defendants in her business and personal transactions, since the death of her husband some seven years prior to her demise.

The trial court held that the evidence of plaintiffs was not sufficient to prove mental incompetency of testatrix or that undue influence or fraud had been exercised upon her.

In affirming judgment of lower court, the Supreme Court of Kansas referred to a well known rule which is followed in evaluating the evidence in a will contest:

“In order to possess the mental capacity to make a valid will the law, based upon the experience of mankind and common sense, does not require that the testator possess the ability to manage or carry on a complicated business enterprise. If necessary the mental capacity to know what property he has, and is able to make a disposition of his property with understanding reason, knows the persons and objects of his bounty, and their condition and relationship to himself, and is able to dictate the items of the will himself, this is sufficient.’ *Higbee v. Bloom*, 108 Kan. 723 733, 196 P. 1080, 1084.”

The court also called attention to another well known rule:

“The settled rule in this state is that one who is able to understand what property he has and how he wants it to go at his death, is competent to make a will even though he may be feeble in mind and decrepit in body.’ *Cole v. Drum*, 109 Kan. 148, syl. par. 6, 197 P. 1105, 1106. See also, *Risel v. McPherson County*, 122 Kan. 741, 253 P. 586; *Hoff v. Hoff*, 106 Kan. 542, 189 P. 613; and *Wisner v. Chandler*, 95 Kan. 36, 147 P. 849.”

In weighing the evidence the court said:

“There is no evidence here to indicate that the business relationship these two defendants had with the

testatrix ever reached the state of being such as might properly be termed confidential, nor the influence they may have had with her or over her being unduly used, in the making of the will or in other matters.” And then the court concluded:

“We conclude that the showing of mental incapacity was not sufficient under all the facts and circumstances to require the setting aside of the will on that account.’

It is respectfully submitted that the Supreme Court of Oregon in a recent case, *In re Scott's Estate*, 228 P.2d. 417, laid down a salutary rule:

“The last will and testament of a deceased person is an instrument of such great solemnity; that it will never be set aside unless the evidence is convincing that it should be.”

In re Peterknis Estate (Cal.) 73 P2d. 897, the facts are stated as follows:

“Under his will, dated May 12, 1931, with an holographic codicil dated September 23, 1933, he left his property to a sister, a cousin, seven nephews, five nieces, and four children of nephews and nieces. The will and codicil were admitted to probate on December 6, 1935. A petition to revoke the probate of said will was filed by the three sons and three daughters of the deceased upon the ground that on May 12, 1931, and for at least a year before and at all times subsequent thereto he was of unsound mind and incompetent to make a will, and upon the further ground that throughout said time he was in declining health and in an enfeebled mental condition; that he was suffering from delusions that his said children did not care for him, that they wanted him to die in order to get his property, that they were conspiring

to make his home life unhappy, and that they were unfairly siding with their mother in the domestic differences which had arisen; that said delusions grew until they became a monomania which existed at the time of the signing of said will and codicil and up to the time of his death; and that said delusions were the controlling mental factors governing the making of said will and codicil."

The trial was had before a court and jury. At the conclusion of contestants evidence, a motion for non-suit was granted. The Supreme Court posed the familiar rule:

"Under familiar rules the question presented is whether, viewed in the light most favorable to appellants, was there any substantial evidence which would have supported a judgment in their favor."

The evidence which is related in the opinion covers misconduct of the testator, in his relationship with his children whom he disinherited. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of the trial court. The following well known rules were relied upon in the determination of mental competency sufficient to make a valid will:

"The law is well settled in this state that a 'testator is of sound and disposing mind and memory, if, at the time of making his will he has sufficient mental capacity to be able to understand the nature of the act he is doing, and to understand and recall the nature and situation of his property, and to remember and understand his relations to the persons who have claims upon his bounty, and whose interests are affected by the provisions of the instrument.' " Estate of Bemmerly, 110 Cal. A pp. 550, 294, P. 33, 37."

The court also relied upon the following rule:

“ ‘Every mental departure from the normal will not destroy a testamentary disposition, otherwise valid, of the testatrix’s estate.’ ” “ ‘Mental derangement sufficient to invalidate a will must be insanity in one of two forms: (1) Insanity of such broad character as to establish mental incompetency generally; or (2) some specific and narrower form of insanity under which the testator is the victim of some hallucination or delusion’ ”

The Court did not approve of testator’s conduct, but nevertheless held such conduct was not evidence of incompetency. We quote from the opinion:

“While the evidence indicates that the testator possessed many qualities which are not admirable, it is far from sufficient to show general mental incompetency at the time the will was made or that he did not then have sufficient mental capacity to understand what he was doing and to understand and recall the nature and situation of his property and his relations to the persons who had a natural claim on his bounty.”

In our search for Utah cases, not cited by appellant, where this court has passed upon the question of mental incompetency of a testator or testatrix, we find In re Bryan’s Estate, 25 P.2d. 602, and In re LaVelle’s Estate, 248 P.2d. 372..

The facts in the Bryan Estate case show that Bryan died at Ogden, August 15, 1929. His will was made on August 6, while he was confined in the hospital and immediately after a major operation had been performed. He left as his property a bank account of about \$8,000.00,

which he bequeathed to the St. Joseph's School at Ogden. He disinherited an only surviving sister Bertha M. Clinch, who resided in the state of Nebraska, and she filed a contest, in which she alleged mental incompetency and undue influence.

The contest was heard before the court, without a jury. At the conclusion of the contestant's case, proponent moved for judgment of non-suit, which motion was granted and upon appeal judgment was affirmed.

Although the evidence showed that decedent was a very sick man when he executed the will, the doctor testified that his mind was sound and that he could make a will. And the trial court and this court so held. We submit that the following excerpt taken from the opinion is in point on the issue of mental competency and burden of proof:

"In the instant case the burden of proof was on contestant to show mental incapacity and undue influence, and the proponent of the will could meet this by proof of a negative, that is, that he did not procure the execution of the will by undue influence, and that the testator was not mentally incapable."

In a recent decision rendered by this court in re LaVelle's Estate, 248 P.2d. 372, an interesting question is raised which is present in the case at bar. In that case testatrix lived for more than a year after the will was executed, and in the case at bar Mrs. Buttars lived seven years and three months. In considering the claim of contestants that Lucille LaVelle was incompetent at time she executed her will, this court said:

"There is another aspect of the case which is strongly persuasive that this third testament repre-

sented the will of Lucille Lavelle: It is indisputable that after its execution she lived for a year: about six months in Odgen and about six months in the Holladay rest home; during this time she had communication with others but made no effort to revoke the will or to make another. There is no evidence and no finding that she was incompetent at any time after the will's execution; and no reason appears why she did not have ample opportunity to change it if it had not conformed to her desires. As a matter of fact, there is no indication that she ever expressed any dissatisfaction with it."

The evidence in case at bar discloses that Mrs. Buttars actively kept account of her income from the property, real and personal, after executing her will. The bank statements show that she deposited large sums of money each year. She renewed a lease in 1948. During the seven years and three months the Buttars will remained in Attorney Daines office, so Mrs. Buttars had ample opportunity during that period, to make a new will or change the will, she made in March 22, 1945. Yes, Mrs. Buttars had ample opportunity to change the will, and as was stated by this court in the LaVelle decision — "there is no indication that she ever expressed any dissatisfaction with it."

Point 11. *The sole point raised by appellants on this appeal is that the verdict of the jury was supported by substantial competent evidence, and all legitimate inferences deducible therefrom, of lack of testamentary capacity on the part of the deceased at the time of the execution of the will in question and because thereof the lower court usurped the function of the jury in rendering judgment notwithstanding the verdict.*

In support of his contention counsel cites and relies upon *In re Alexander's Estate*, 139 P.2d. 432, and *In re Dong Ling Hing's Estate*, 2 P.2d. 902, to the effect that a will contest is an action at law, and hence the court cannot weigh and pass upon conflicting evidence, or pass on the credibility of witnesses.

There was no conflict in the evidence *In re Alexander's Estate*, *supra*. The evidence showed without dispute—"that the will was not signed by the testatrix in the presence of one of the subscribing witnesses." The witness testified — "No. I was not present when she signed it," and "I did not see her sign it." On that testimony, which was not in conflict, the court refused to admit the will to probate. The undisputed facts in the *Alexander Estate*, *supra*, cannot be compared with the undisputed evidence in the case at bar, since in the case at bar both subscribing witnesses appeared in court and testified that Mrs. Buttars, signed the will in their presence and at her request and in her presence and in the presence of each other, they subscribed their names to said will as witnesses, in fact, their testimony showed that all of the statutory requirements in the execution of the will were complied with.

In re Dong Ling Hing's Estate, 2 P.2d. 902, as stated in the opinion — "The chief issue before the court is the validity of the purported will, whether it was duly and lawfully executed and published by deceased, and duly attested by the subscribing witnesses." It appeared from the evidence adduced at the trial in that case, as reported in the opinion, that one of the subscribing witnesses when shown the purported will some time prior to the trial said—

"I didn't sign it." "No, that is not my signature." And when the other subscribing witness was contacted and he examined the purported will he likewise denied that he signed the document in question as a will, and that he did not sign it in the presence of the testator or the other witness. (2P.2d. 907 — 1st Column.) This testimony seemed to be undisputed.

The case of Galorowidz v. Ward, et al. 230 P.2d. 576 is cited by appellant in an attempt to show that the instant action, being one at law, the court cannot weigh and pass upon conflicting evidence. That case did not involve a will contest but a suit for damages resulting from an automobile accident. Galorowidz sued Robert Ward, a minor, his parents John M. Ward, and Mrs. John M. Ward, Max Siegel, and others. At the time of the accident Robert Ward was operating a car, the property of Siegel, who was the employer of John M. Ward. There was no dispute in the evidence relative to ownership of the car. It was conceded that Robert Ward, was at the time of the accident operating a car belonging to Siegel, but he was not Siegel's employee. Thus there was no conflicting evidence in that case on question of agency.

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